FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/2/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101942-4

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/2/2023 11:38 AM

83127-5-I

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GARLAND D. HALL,

Petitioner,

v.

JOHN L. SCOTT, WILLIAM STERN, and KIM STEVENSON

Respondents.

#### AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark Perez, WSBA #47350 Emissary Law, 206.216.2980 mark@emissarylaw.com 3901 Leary Way NW, Suite 4 Seattle WA 98107

Counsel for Petitioner

### **

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Washington has over 22,000 real estate agents. The statutes and regulations, Chapter 18.85 RCW, Chapter 18.86 RCW, and Chapter 308-124 WAC, require that all firms, brokers, managing brokers and designated brokers be licensed by the State of Washington Department of Licensing, Business and Professionals Administration, Division of Real Estate. In turn, RCW 18.85.361 contains an extensive list of restrictive activities. Of importance for this Petition, "[c]harging or accepting compensation from more than one party in any one transaction without first making full disclosure in writing of all the facts to all the parties interested in the transaction" is grounds for disciplinary action. Further, such a violation is a gross misdemeanor, (RCW 18.85.411) and may subject the real estate broker, managing broker, or real estate firm to penalties as well as civil liabilities.

Despite RCW 18.85 mandating full disclosure, there is uncertainty whether a real estate agent representing a seller has a duty, under RCW 18.86 *et seq.*, to disclose to the principal the terms and the amount of compensation it will receive from a buyer. Finding this information to be "material" under RCW 18.86.030(1)(d) will bring a broker's duties to a principal in harmony with the disclosures required by the Department of Licensing, Division of Real Estate. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Additionally, this Court has not published any opinions interpreting the definition of "conflict of interest" and the disclosures required under RCW 18.86.040(1)(b). A seller employing a real estate agent deserves to know beforehand, whether the agent rerpesented the buyer and what real estate brokerage services the agent is providing the buyer in the transaction. Interpreting the legislature's intent regarding an agent's duty to disclose any conflicts of interest is neccesary to better safegard the relationship between a principal and a real estate agent. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Lastly, lower courts need guidance on the required elements for actionable misrepresentation when a plaintiff alleges that a defendant had a duty but failed to make proper disclosures. While the Appeals Court opined that Petitioner failed to establish reliance, this Court noted that establishing the reliance element is "virtually impossible", in failure to disclose claims. As a result, lower courts have applied mixed standards in these types of cases. Granting review would allow this Court to resolve the dispute between lower courts. RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2), and (4).

For these reasons, review is merited.

#### B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioner Garland D. Hall seeks review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Morris v. Int'l Yogurt Co., 107 Wash. 2d 314, 328, 729 P.2d 33 (1986)

#### C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its opinion on January 17, 2023 and denied reconsideration on March 31. See Appendix A-1 to A-42 for the opinion and Appendix A-43 for the decision denying reconsideration.

#### D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

May a plaintiff establish a cause of action for misrepresentation by showing that a real estate agent had a duty to, but failed to disclose a material fact or conflict of interest?

Whether the terms of compensation from the buyer are material facts that an agent must disclose to the seller-principal?

What constitutes a conflict of interest under the Real Estate Brokerage Relationship Act, RCW 18.86?

What must a real estate agent disclose when a conflict of interest arises?

#### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion is generally correct in its recitation of the facts and procedure. However, the opinion fails to adequately capture the relationship between the Respondents and the buyer of Hall's property.

1. Hall Presented Evidence that JLS was the Agent of the
Buyer Prior to Representing Hall, and Provided Real Estate
Brokerage Services to the Buyer Which Were Contrary to
Hall's Interests.

The Buyer of Hall's Property - STCA, LLC (STCA), formally known as Orcas Development, undertook a cohesive, multi-parcel development project in the Town Center sub-area of the City of Sammamish, Washington. CP 636. The project required STCA to aquire more than 40 parcels for this project. *Id*.

Around 2014, Repondents William Stern ("Stern") and Kim Stevenson ("Stevenson") agents of John L. Scott ("JLS") (hereinafter Respondents are collectively referred to as "JLS") learned of STCA's plan to take on the multi-parcel development in the Town Center. In May 2014, JLS was engaged by STCA to assist STCA in "procuring fully executed purchase and sale agreements" from homeowners located within the Sammamish Town Center in exchange for a "success fee." CP 1307; CP 881.

The real estate brokerage services that JLS provided to STCA are quoted below:

- Introduction of Buyer to property owners
- Schedule meetings between Buyer and the property owners
- Ease the reluctance of the property owners by explaining why Buyer is different than previous potential purchasers.
- Inform Buyer of potential issues of a specific parcel purchase to the extent known by Brokers.....
  - o Property Owner issues

- Timing
- Cash needs or lack thereof
- Previous missteps by others
- Facilitate the signing of an **initial letter of intent** 
  - Understand Buyer's requirements and communicate them to the seller
  - Communicate the requirements of the letter of intent to seller and at times, seller counsel.
  - The goal is no surprises and a signed agreement without revision
- Facilitate the signing of the **purchase and sale agreement** 
  - Communicate issues as the P&S is being reviewed by seller and counsel
  - The goal is no surprises and a signed agreement without revisions.

#### CP 1319. [Empahsis added].

In exchange for these services, STCA agreed to pay JLS around two percent (2%) of the purchase price for each of the sellers JLS was able to contract with STCA. CP 1314.

Throughout 2014, JLS continued to collaborate with STCA to develop a strategy to get "in front of as many sellers as [Stern and STCA] could as quickly as possible." CP 881. JLS provided STCA with title reports, raw data, assisted in STCA's budgeting plan and collaborated with STCA's attorneys to draft master purchase and sale agreement forms that

would be used to make offers to various homeowners in the town center.

CP 881.

JLS also strategized with STCA to limit the sellers' ability to modify or change the terms of the Letters of Intent (LOI) and Purchase and Sale Agreements (PSA) that would be presented to the sellers in the Town Center. Stern e-mailed STCA in November 2014 stating:

3. Part of our strategy has been to have the seller's attorney review these forms, and to have the buyer front the money from this activity from his substantial cash earnest money deposit.... The seller's attorney would not have the ability to change the price, closing date or terms. His job would be to ensure that his clients are protected by the wording of various clauses which Kim and I are not capable of doing.

5. Here's the problem: How do we get the sellers to sign the psa [purchase and sale agreement], hand it to their attorney for review, without giving the sellers or their attorney the ability to modify the wording, or back out of the deal, if their attorney suggests changes that they are not allowed to make?

CP 897 [emphasis added].

After the master forms were prepared, Stern systematically contacted the homeowners to present offers from STCA. He did so in an order based on his opinion of how Hall's neighbors would influence Hall to sell. See CP 898.

2. <u>JLS's Communications to Hall Did not Disclose the Terms of Compensation, or Services JLS Were Providing to the Buyer.</u>

On May 13, 2014, Stern sent an e-mail to Hall stating that Stern and Stevenson were working with multiple potential sellers. Op. 5. On September 8, 2014, Stern e-mailed Hall to inform him that he met with the principal of Orcas Development, Matt Samwick, who was interested in purchasing Hall's property. *Id*.

On September 16, 2014, Stern e-mailed Hall that he would represent Hall in the sale of his home. Op. at 6. Stern did so while vetting an offer for Hall that he received from another developer. *Id.* Stern led Hall to believe he would be his real estate agent.

On October 14, 2014, in an e-mail, Stern informed Hall that he met with the principal of STCA along with its financing source. Op. at 6. On November 4, 2014, Stern advised Hall that he and Stevenson had been "working with Orcas Development for about a year." Op. at 6.

On November 8, 2014, Stern and Stevenson communicated amongst themselves edits to a forthcoming e-mail to multiple potential sellers. Stevenson proposed changes, which she attributed to wanting to avoid implying that they represented STCA. However, because JLS was providing substantial real estate brokerage services to STCA with the

expectation of compensation, at that time JLS was the agent of STCA. See RCW 18.86.020(1).

On November 15, 2014, Stevenson sent an e-mail to undisclosed recipients, including Hall. The e-mail disclosed that Stern and Stevenson had been approached by an interested buyer "nearly a year ago." The e-mail disclosed that they had "spent this past week negotiating" with STCA. Prior to representing Hall, JLS never expressly disclosed to Hall that they were STCA's agents throughout 2014.

3. The Seller Representation Form, Letter of Intent and the Purchase and Sale Agreement do Not Specify the Terms of Compensation Between JLS and STCA.

In December, Stern presented Hall with a Seller Representation Form (47) and explained that in order to hear STCA's offer- Hall would need to sign Form 47. CP 754. Hall signed it. In Form 47, JLS agreed to represent Hall in the transaction with STCA. Form 47 made no reference to JLS's relationship with STCA, the real estate brokerage services it would be providing to STCA, and that it would be acting as a "facilitator" for a commission. CP 659.

After Hall signed Form 47, Stern presented Hall with STCA's LOI, which provided that "Buyer is not represented by a broker. Buyer may negotiate a success fee (to be paid by Buyer) in Buyer's discretion." CP 662. The LOI did not disclose the amount JLS would receive and what

services it would be providing to STCA. Hall signed Form 47 and the LOI on December 12, 2014. CP 659, CP 662.

On December 22, Stern contacted Hall to discuss STCA's

Purchase and Sale Agreement ("PSA"). CP 723. The Purchase and Sale

Agreement consisted of a Standard MLS Form 21, and a six-page

Addendum. Paragraph 9.7 of Addendum No. 1 provided that "Buyer will

pay Listing Firm a facilitation fee pursuant to a separate written Facilitator

Agreement. However, Listing Firm is not the agent of Buyer." CP 675.

The PSA did not define or identify what was meant by "facilitation fee,"

the real estate brokerage services JLS was to provide STCA, nor the

commission amount JLS was to receive in exchange for its services to the

Buyer. The PSA also did not include a copy of the Facilitator Agreement.

Upon Stern's advice that Hall would be getting the same deal as his neighbors and that he would be allowed to lease back the Property, providing him additional time to move, Hall signed the PSA, including the six-page addendum on December 22, 2014. CP 1201; Hall Dep. 218: 22-25. Both statements turned out to be false.

At closing, JLS received a \$50,040 commission from Hall's sale proceeds. CP 1534. The closing document, *Id*, did not disclose the 2% commission JLS would receive from STCA, which totaled \$25,020.00. CP 1317.

#### F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCPTED

(1) The Court of Appeals Misapplied the Standard for Hall's Fraudulent Misrepresentation Claim Based on JLS's Failure to Disclose the Terms of Compensation from the Buyer and the Conflict of Interest.

Common law misrepresentation is a viable cause of action for alleging that a real estate broker breached its duties under RCW 18.86. *Jackowski v. Borchel*t, 174 Wash. 2d 720, 733, 278 P.3d 1100 (2012). Hall argued that JLS's failure to disclose its Facilitator Agreement with the buyer amounted to a fraudulent misrepresentation and a breach of broker's duties. The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of his claims, stating that Hall failed to show the reliance element. Op. 36.

An increasingly important question which merits review is whether a plaintiff must establish the nine elements of fraud<sup>2</sup> in a misrepresentation claim where the speaker has a duty to disclose information and breached this duty. Other cases have held that, in the context of a failure to disclose claim, a defendant may establish fraudulent misrepresentation by "simply show[ing] that the defendant breached an affirmative duty to disclose a material fact. *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wash.2d 486, 515-16, 925 P.2d 194 (1996) (Talmadge, J., concurring); *Oates v.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hoffer v. State, 110 Wash.2d 415, 425, 755 P.2d 781, adhered to on reconsideration, 113 Wash.2d 148, 776 P.2d 963 (1989).

Taylor, 31 Wash.2d 898, 902-03, 199 P.2d 924 (1948)." Crisman v. Crisman, 85 Wn. App. 15, 21, 931 P.2d 163 (1997).

Washington law follows the Restatement rule which imposes liability if there is a duty to speak, when one fails to reveal material facts within one's knowledge. See Crisman, 85 Wash. App at 22; Ross v. Ticor Title Ins. Co., 135 Wash.App. 182, 143 P.3d 885 (Div. 2 2006); Restatement Second Torts § 551. Numerous Washington cases recognize that when a person is under a duty to speak and a person fails to disclose material facts within that person's knowledge, such failure to disclose also constitutes fraudulent misrepresentation. Mersky v. Multiple Listing Bur. of Olympia, Inc., 73 Wn.2d 225, 437 P.2d 897 (1968); McRae v. Bolstad, 32 Wash.App. 173, 177, 646 P.2d 771 (1982), aff'd, 101 Wash.2d 161, 676 P.2d 496 (1984); Washington Mut. Sav. Bank v. Hedreen, 125 Wash.2d 521, 526, 886 P.2d 1121 (1994). See also, Dussault ex rel. Walker-Van Buren v. American Intern. Group, Inc., 123 Wash.App. 863, 872, 99 P.3d 1256 (2004) (differentiating between affirmative and silence in misrepresentation claims). In these cases, the reliance element was not clearly required. In fact, in *Mersky*, it was ignored: "It is of no consequence...that the broker may be able to show that the breach of his

duty of full disclosure....did not materially affect the principal's ultimate decision in the transaction." *Mersky*, 73 Wn.2d at 231.

Furthermore, this Court has acknowledged that reliance is "virtually impossible to prove" in cases involving non-disclosure of material facts. *Morris v. Int'l Yogurt Co.*, 107 Wash. 2d 314, 328, 729 P.2d 33 (1986); see also *Deegan v. Windemere Real Estate/Center-Isle, Inc.*, 197 Wash.App.875, 391 P.3d 582, 588 (2017) (noting that the rebuttable presumption of reliance in security fraud cases have not been applied to consumer fraud).

This Court should clarify what elements a plaintiff must prove by clear, cogent and convincing evidence in order to prevail on a misrepresentation claim involving a failure to disclose a material fact where such a duty exists. Granting review would provide victims of fraud and lower courts greater clarity in adjudicating misrepresentation claims.

If, as the cases cited above suggest, that a "second way" to prove misrepresentation exists, Hall established that JLS owed to him an affirmative duty to disclose material information and conflicts of interest and that JLS breached these duties.

(2) RCW 18.86 Creates an Affirmative Duty to Make Full and Timely Disclosures of Material Facts.

For the purpose of establishing fraudulent misrepresentation, a duty to disclose material facts can arise from a statutory duty, a fiduciary or quasi-fiduciary relationship, a special relationship of trust and confidence, or reliance on another's superior specialized knowledge and experience. *Colonial Imports, Inc. v. Carlton Nw., Inc.*, 121 Wn.2d 726, 732, 853 P.2d 913 (1993).

In 1997, Washington adopted statutes defining the duties of real estate agents and limiting the duties to those expressly set forth in the statute absent an agreement otherwise. As the seller's agent, the statute imposes a duty to disclose material facts not readily ascertainable to the seller (RCW 18.86.030(1)(d)), to deal honestly and in good faith (RCW 18.86.030(b)), a duty of loyalty to the seller by taking no action that is adverse or detrimental to the seller's interest in the transaction (RCW 18.86.040(a)), and a duty to timely disclose to the seller any conflicts of interest (RCW 18.86.040(b)).

Based on these statutory duties, the confidential relationship between Hall and JLS, and JLS's specialized knowledge in real estate matters, Respondents owed to Hall an affirmative duty to disclose material facts and any conflicts of interest.

i. The Terms and Conditions of the Facilitator Agreement between JLS and the Buyer are Material Facts.

As stated above, a real estate agent is required to disclose a material fact not readily ascertainable to the principal. RCW 18.86.030(1)(d). A fact is "material" if it is "information that substantially adversely affects the value of the property or a party's ability to perform its obligations in a real estate transaction, or operates to materially impair or defeat the purpose of the transaction." RCW 18.86.010 (9).

The terms and conditions of JLS's and the Buyer's Facilitator Agreement was a material fact. Here, JLS is a party to the a real estate transaciton<sup>3</sup> with Hall, as evidenced by Form 47. Next, a reasonable jury could find that the services JLS provided to STCA substantially adversly affected JLS' ability to perform its duties to Hall under Form 47, RCW 18.86.030 and RCW 18.86.040.

Indeed, disclosure of the terms and conditions of the Faciltator

Agreement would have disclosed a \$25,000 commission from the buyer to

JLS. In *Cogan*, the Court found that the failure to disclose a \$20,000

commission was actionable. *Cogan v. Kidder, Mathews & Segner, Inc.*, 97

Wn.2d 658, 648 P.2d 875 (1982). "Kidder, Matthew...... failed to inform

Cogan that Ginn had agreed to pay Kidder, Matthews a \$20,000

commission for its work and that the realtors were the exclusive agents for Allied." *Cogan*, 97 Wash.2d at 661.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See RCW 18.86.010 (13)

Requring an agent to disclose to a principal the terms and conditions of compensation is also consistent with RCW 18.85.361 (10), which states that: "[c]harging or accepting compensation from more than one party in any one transaction without first making *full* disclosure in writing of all the facts to all the parties interested in the transaction" is grounds for disciplinary action. [emphasis added] RCW 18.85.411 states: "Any person acting as a real estate broker, managing broker, or real estate firm....violating any of the provisions of this chapter, is guilty of a gross misdemeanor."

Lastly, requiring a broker to fully disclose the terms of compensation is consistent with the broker's duties of good faith and fair dealing. RCW 18.86.030(1)(a).

For these reasons, the Court should determine whether a real estate agent is required under RCW 18.86 to fully disclose to the principal the terms of compensation from the other party. Finding these facts to be material would bring harmony between a broker's duties to a principal and the disclosures required by the Real Estate Division.

<u>ii.</u> JLS did not Fully Disclose the Terms and Conditions of the Facilitator Agreement.

The totality of communications between Hall and JLS do not amount to a full disclosure. JLS never disclosed that it would receive a

2% commission from the Buyer of Hall's property. In addition, it never disclosed what real estate brokerage services JLS would provide to STCA in the transaction with Hall.

At best, JLS partially disclosed the terms of compensation in the LOI and PSA. See CP 662 and CP 675. However, partial disclosure occurred *after* JLS agreed to represent Hall and were made in a manner that did not adequately call to Hall's attention the relationship JLS had with STCA. The partial disclosure was untimely and misleading. See *Van Dinter v. Orr*, 157 Wash.2d 329, 334, 138 P.3d 608 (2006); *Colonial Imports*, at 731-33 (negligent misrepresentation for partial, ambiguous, and misleading disclosure)

Furthermore, determing breach of a duty is generally a question of fact for the jury, and should be decided as a matter of law only "in the clearest of cases and when reasonable minds could not have differed in their interepretation" of the facts. *Bodin v. City of Stanwood*, 130 Wn.2d 726, 741, 927 P.2d 240 (1996). The Court misapplied this standard when it found that Hall presented no issue of fact reagrding JLS's failure to disclose the terms of the Faciliator Agreement with Hall.

(3) RCW 18.86 Creates an Affirmative Duty to Make Full, Fair and Timely Disclosures of a Conflict of Interest.

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