FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/17/2023 12:26 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO.: 101942-4 COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 83127-5-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GARLAND D. HALL,

Petitioner.

v.

JOHN L. SCOTT REAL ESTATE, a Washington corporation, BILL STERN, an individual, and KIM STEVENSON, an individual

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey P. Downer WSBA No. 12625 Daniel C. Mooney WSBA No. 44521 Attorneys for Respondents

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street, Suite 1800 Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Hall fails to establish any basis under RAP 13.4 for this Court to accept review.

Hall's Petition for Review does not present a proper basis for review by this Court. The Supreme Court's review of a Court of Appeals decision is an extraordinary step, and

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the **only** grounds under which a Court of Appeals decision will be reviewed:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Nothing in RAP 13.4 or in Washington law entitles Hall to review simply because he disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision:

RAP 13.4(b) does not allow review simply to correct isolated instances of injustice. The Supreme Court, in passing upon a petition for review, is not operating as a court of error, but rather is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. Its concern is with the general state of the law, not particular applications of it, whether involving the state constitution, statutory or regulatory law, or the common law. ...

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook, §18.2 (4th ed. 2016).

Hall argues review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4), but the authority he cites in his Petition does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' ruling, and no matters of substantial public interest are implicated by this purely private dispute.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision with respect to dismissal of the fraudulent misrepresentation claim was consistent with precedent of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals.

Hall argues the Court of Appeals erred in affirming dismissal of the fraudulent misrepresentation claim when it ruled he failed to meet his burden of proof on the reliance element. Pet for Rev. at 10-12. Hall contends that case law eliminates the reliance requirement when the defendant is under a duty to disclose material facts. *Id.* Hall is not correct.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision requiring Hall to establish the reliance element was consistent with Supreme Court precedent.

Hall cites a number of Supreme Court cases to advance his argument that reliance is not a required element of a

fraudulent misrepresentation claim against a defendant with a duty to disclose. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 10-12. However, all the Supreme Court caselaw cited by Hall on this point make clear that reasonable reliance remains a required element, even in cases where the defendant is under a duty to disclose.

Hall first cites Stiley v. Block, 130 Wn.2d 486, 925 P.2d 194 (1996). Pet. for Rev. at 10. In *Stiley*, the plaintiff was a real estate investor who brought a claim for fraud against an attorney who acted as an escrow agent and represented the owner of a property. Id. at 489-98. In analyzing whether a grant of directed verdict was proper, the Court detailed the nine elements of fraud, including "plaintiff's right to rely" upon an alleged misrepresentation of an existing fact. *Id.* at 505. Though the focus of Stiley was whether the plaintiff had made a sufficient showing that the alleged misrepresentation was an existing material fact, id. at 505-06, and the opinion does not discuss at length the reliance element, the Court notes it is a required element of the cause of action, even where the

defendant has a duty to disclose. Hall's contention that *Stiley* eliminated it is false.

Hall also cites *Oates v. Taylor*, 31 Wn.2d 898, 199 P.2d 924 (1948). Pet. for Rev. at 10-11. In *Oates*, Oates claimed fraud against Taylor regarding disclosures Taylor made with respect to the financial health of his home building business. In holding that the trial incorrectly entered judgment in favor of Oates, the Court held that there was no fiduciary relationship, and thus Taylor had no duty to speak; therefore, his silence as to the financial health of his company did not constitute actionable fraud. *Id.* at 904-05.

The *Oates* Court did not extensively discuss the reliance element because it was not the focus of the Court's opinion, the Court certainly did not eliminate it. In fact, the Court specifically noted reliance was an element of a fraud claim when stating the elements of the cause of action. *Id.* at 902 ("he must have acted in reliance upon them to his injury").

Hall also cites *Wash. Mut. Sav. Bank v. Hedreen*, 125 Wn.2d 521, 886 P.2d 1121 (1994). Pet. for Rev. at 11. In that case, the Court was analyzing whether the defendant had a duty to disclose a discrepancy between a master lease and a commitment letter under the particular facts of the case. *Id.* at 529. The Court specifically noted in its discussion of the issue that reliance is an element of such a claim, stating: "in those cases where a court has found a duty to disclose, the circumstance surrounding the transaction have created a relationship of trust and confidence **upon which the injured party was entitled to rely.**" *Id.* at 526 (emphasis added).

Hall also cites *Morris v. Int'l Yogurt Co.*, 107 Wn.2d 314, 729 P.2d 33 (1986). Pet. for Rev. at 12. Hall misstates the holding of *Morris. Morris* is limited to those cases involving omission of a material fact in violation of RCW 19.100.170 (2), Washington's Franchise Investment Protection Act. *Morris*, 107 Wn.2d at 330 ("We hold, therefore, that in an action alleging the omission of a material

fact in violation of RCW 19.100.170 (2), proof of nondisclosure of a material fact establishes a presumption of reliance which the defendant may rebut[.]"). The Court's opinion was limited to the burden of proof under a particular statute designed to protect franchisees' investments, not a wholesale abolition of the reliance element in all cases. Furthermore, far from eliminating the reliance element, the case establishes that reliance is a required element and creates a burden-shifting scheme on the element. *Id*.

Finally, Hall cites *Mersky v. Multiple Listing Bur. Of Olympia, Inc.*, 73 Wn.2d 225, 437 P.2d 897 (1968). Pet. for Rev. at 11-12. In *Mersky*, vendors of real estate sued their broker after they discovered the buyer was related to one of the broker's employees. *Id.* at 228. The Merskys testified that had they known about the relationship, they would have not have simply accepted the offer and instead would have made a counteroffer. *Id.* In fact, the Merskys had specifically asked the broker who the prospective purchasers were, to which the

broker inaccurately responded that he knew only that they were from California. *Id.* at 227-28. The trial court dismissed the claim, finding that the alleged breach of the duty to disclose was immaterial. *Id.* at 226.

Reversing that decision, the Supreme Court stated that the admitted failure to disclose the close blood relationship, particularly in light of the Merskys' request for the information, breached the broker's duty of full disclosure. *Id.* at 233. The Court therefore fashioned a remedial rule whereby the broker must give up its commission due to the breach of duty by failing to disclose the familial relationship. *Id.* While the Court acknowledged the proximate cause element, it did not eliminate the reliance element. *Id.* at 231. In fact, the Court barely discussed the reliance element, noting only that it had been established ("despite the fact that a request for identity of the purchaser had been made"). *Id.* at 233.

2. The Court of Appeals' holding that Hall failed to establish the reliance element of his fraudulent misrepresentation claim

was consistent with published Court of Appeals decisions.

Hall cites several cases from various Courts of Appeals in support of his argument that reliance is not a required element of a fraudulent misrepresentation claim against a defendant with a duty to disclose. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 10-12. However, those cases also make clear that reasonable reliance is a required element even in cases where the defendant is under a duty to disclose.

Hall cites *Crisman v. Crisman*, 85 Wn. App. 15, 931 P.2d 163 (Div. 2 1997). Pet. for Rev., p. 11. However, the section of the case cited by Hall was the Court's general discussion of the discovery rule in the context of tolling the statute of limitations, and was not a statement abrogating the reliance element of a fraudulent misrepresentation claim. Hall misstates the holding of the case.

Hall also cites *McRae v. Bolstad*, 32 Wn. App. 173, 646 P.2d 771 (Div. 1 1982). Pet. for Rev. at 11. In that case, when reviewing whether the trial court properly instructed the

jury on the elements of fraud in a case involving the sale of a house with known, but not disclosed, plumbing problems, the court of appeals specifically discussed that reliance is an element of a fraud claim, noting "purchasers of property have a right to rely on the sellers' and their agents' representation." *Id.* at 177. Clearly the court did not eliminate the reliance element.

Hall also cites *Dussault et rel. Walker-Van Buren v.*American Intern. Grp., Inc., 123 Wn. App. 863,
99 P.3d 1256 (Div. 1 2004). Pet. for Rev. at 11. However,

Dussault does not discuss whether reliance is a required element of a fraud claim, but rather discusses more generally whether a plaintiff can bring a fraudulent misrepresentation claim even if plaintiff is not owed a duty to disclose. *Id.* at 871-72. Hall grossly overstates the case's holding.

Hall also cites *Deegan v. Windermere Real Estate/Center-Isle, Inc.*, 197 Wn. App. 875, 391 P.3d 582 (2017) for the proposition that it is impossible to prove the reliance element in non-disclosure cases so that it has

been eliminated. Pet. for Rev. at 12. However, the *Deegan* court said no such thing; in fact, it expressly noted that reliance is an element of the cause of action when it held that in cases under the CPA for omission of material facts, there is a rebuttable presumption of reliance. *Id.* at 890. Clearly, the *Deegan* court did not eliminate the reliance element from misrepresentation claims.

C. The Court of Appeals' decision with respect to disclosing the terms of the Facilitator Agreement and conflicts of interest was correct and consistent with Washington caselaw.

Hall argues that the Court of Appeals erred in its conclusion that JLS sufficiently disclosed any conflict of interest posed by the Facilitator Agreement or relationship with STCA. Pet. for Rev. at 12-21. In making these points, Hall does not discuss any point of law on which the Court of Appeals supposedly errored; instead, he argues that review is warranted so this Court can determine whether a broker must fully disclose the terms of compensation to the broker's client (a settled point of law), and so this Court can give guidance to

the lower courts regarding when a conflict of interest arises and the scope of a broker's disclosure obligations regarding any conflicts of interest. *Id*.

These arguments fail to show any conflict in the law that this Court needs to resolve. Rather, they are merely Hall taking issue with the Court of Appeals' view of the facts. example, Hall argues that JLS "never disclosed that it would receive a 2% (sic) commission from the Buyer of Hall's property," so this Court supposedly should accept review to determine whether a broker must fully disclose the terms of compensation. Pet. for Rev. at 14-15. However, the record reflects that the 2 percent fee was disclosed to Hall. CP 654 at ¶9; CP 675. The Court of Appeals deemed that sufficient. disclosure Hall merely disagrees. Such disagreement is no basis for this Court to take the extraordinary step of accepting review.

Hall also argues that review is warranted to give guidance to lower courts about when a conflict of interest arises

and the scope of disclosure for them. Pet. for Rev. at 17. Again, this argument is merely Hall's disagreement with the Court of Appeals' view of the facts. Though Hall contends JLS did not sufficiently disclose the nature and details of its working relationship with STCA, the Court of Appeals deemed it sufficient. *See* Op. at 28-32, 36-37. And in reaching its decision, the Court of Appeals assumed a conflict of interest existed under the facts of the case. *Id.* at 32 ("To the extent there was one, Hall cannot reasonably argue that JLS failed to disclose a conflict of interest with STCA").

Every court that has reviewed this matter has viewed the facts differently than Hall does. His mere disappointment that he has lost at every turn does not entitle him to review by this Court. In evaluating a petition of review under RAP 13.4(b), this Court is not operating as a court of error, nor does it seek to correct isolated instances of injustice. Indeed, no injustice occurred here, and thus none needs correction.

D. To the extent Hall seeks to have dismissal of his CPA claim reviewed, this Court should decline to do so.

The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of Hall's CPA claim because he failed to show how any of his alleged damages under the CPA were proximately caused by JLS. Op. at 33.

In his Petition for Review, Hall gives at most passing treatment to *State v. Ralph Williams' N.W. Chrysler Plymouth*, *Inc.* for the proposition that a misrepresentation of material terms of a transaction may form the basis of a CPA claim. Pet. for Rev. at 23. There is no dispute on that point of law, and it was not the basis for the dismissal of Hall's CPA claim.

Since he fails to offer any meaningful analysis and completely fails to address the actual basis for the Court of Appeals' decision regarding the CPA claim, this Court should decline to review the Court of Appeals' decision to dismiss the CPA claim. *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 416, 120 P.3d 56 (2005) (Supreme Court will not review issues

for which inadequate argument has been briefed or only passing treatment has been made).

E. This case does not present a genuine issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

Hall contends that there is uncertainty whether a real estate "agent¹" representing a seller under RCW 18.86 must disclose to the principal the terms and the amount of compensation it will receive from a buyer. Pet. for Rev. at 1. He argues that finding such information to be "material" would bring a broker's duties into harmony with the disclosures required by the Department of Licensing. *Id*.

For a substantial public interest to exist, Hall must show "the particular issue has ramifications beyond the particular parties and the particular facts of an individual case." *Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook* §18.2(3) (4th ed. 2016). Detailed analysis of the "substantial public interest" criterion of

¹ Hall refers to real estate professionals under RCW 18.85 as "agents"; however, the statute actually refers to them as "brokers", which is defined as a "natural person acting on behalf of a real estate firm to perform real estate brokerage services under the supervision of a designated broker or managing broker." RCW 18.85.011(2).

RAP 13.4(b)(4) is scant, but this Court weighed what amounts to "public interest" when considering the related question of whether to decide a moot issue:

When determining the requisite degree of public interest, court should consider (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question.

In re Mines, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). Dept. of Ecology v. Adsit, 103 Wn.2d 698, 705, 694 P.2d 1065 (1985); Sorenson v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). Where the Court has directly addressed the "substantial public interest" criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4), it has used these principles. State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).

In *Watson*, the issue was whether a prosecutor's office delivery of a memo to all members of the bench regarding its decision not to recommend drug offender sentencing alternative (DOSA) sentences was an improper *ex parte* communication. This Court held that the Court of Appeals' decision was

reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the ruling (1) could affect every sentencing proceeding involving a DOSA sentence; (2) created confusion and invited unnecessary litigation; and (3) could chill policy actions by both attorneys and judges in the future. *Id*.

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